
 

 

 
 
 
 
Please ask for Charlotte Kearsey 
Direct Line: 01246 34 5236 
Email: committee.services@chesterfield.gov.uk 
 
The Chair and Members of Cabinet  

 15 November 2021 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 

Please attend a meeting of the CABINET to be held on TUESDAY, 23 
NOVEMBER 2021 at 10.30 am in Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Chesterfield, 
the agenda for which is set out below. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1(Public Information) 
 

1.    Declarations of Members' and Officers' Interests relating to items on the 
Agenda  
 

2.    Apologies for Absence  
 

3.    Minutes (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
2 November, 2021.  
 

4.    Forward Plan  
 
Please follow the link below to view the latest Forward Plan. 
 
Forward Plan 
 

Items Recommended to Cabinet via Cabinet Members 
 
Deputy Leader 

Public Document Pack

http://chesterfield.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=134&RD=0&bcr=1


 
 

 
5.    Council Plan Delivery Plan - Half Year Performance Update (Pages 9 - 

38) 
 

6.    General Fund Budget Monitoring 2021/22 (Pages 39 - 48) 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager and Monitoring Officer 

 
  

 



CABINET 02.11.21 

1 
 
 

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021 
 

Present:- 
 

Councillor P Gilby (Chair) 

 
Councillors D Collins 

Holmes 
J Innes 
Ludlow 
 

Councillors 
 

Mannion-Brunt 
Sarvent 
Serjeant 
 

Non Voting 
Members 

P Innes    

 
*Matters dealt with under the Delegation Scheme 
 

42    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' AND OFFICERS' INTERESTS 
RELATING TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
 
No declarations of interest were received.   
 

43    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Blank.  
 

44    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 14 September, 2021 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

45    FORWARD PLAN  
 
The Forward Plan for the four month period 1 December, 2021 to 31 
March, 2022 was reported for information. 
 
*RESOLVED – 
 
That the Forward Plan be noted. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET 02.11.21 

2 
 
 

 
46    DELEGATION REPORT  

 
Decisions taken by Cabinet Members during October were reported.  
 
*RESOLVED –  
 
That the Delegation Report be noted.  
 

47    VISITOR ECONOMY STRATEGY  
 
The Senior Economic Development Officer presented a report on the draft 
Visitor Economy Strategy and sought approval to commence consultation 
on its content.  
 
The development of the draft Visitor Economy Strategy had been 
underpinned by the preparation of a Situation Report which summarised 
the current position of Chesterfield as a visitor destination. A copy of the 
Situation Report was attached at Appendix 1 of the officer’s report.  
 
The overall purpose of the Visitor Economy Strategy was to attract more 
visitors to Chesterfield to support existing retail, leisure, and hospitality 
businesses through generating additional footfall and spend and create 
new jobs in the local economy. A copy of the draft Visitor Economy 
Strategy was attached at Appendix 2 of the officer’s report.  
 
*RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the draft Chesterfield Visitor Economy Strategy (2021-26) be 
approved for public consultation.  
 

2. That the Service Director - Economic Growth, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Town Centres and Visitor Economy, be 
granted delegated authority to make amendments and corrections 
to the draft Chesterfield Visitor Economy Strategy and associated 
supporting material to make it ready for consultation.  
 

3. That, following the public consultation, the final version of the 
Chesterfield Visitor Economy Strategy be presented to Cabinet and 
Council for further consideration and approval.  
 

 

Page 4



CABINET 02.11.21 

3 
 
 

REASON FOR DECISIONS  
 
To progress the adoption of the Chesterfield Visitor Economy Strategy 
(2021-26). 
 

48    AFGHAN RELOCATIONS AND ASSISTANCE POLICY AND AFGHAN 
CITIZENS RESETTLEMENT SCHEMES  
 
The Service Director - Corporate presented a report which sought 
approval for the Council’s participation in the Afghan Relocation and 
Assistance Policy and Afghan Citizens’ Resettlement Scheme. 
 
Local councils had an excellent track record of supporting humanitarian 
efforts to protect and support refugees with examples provided of a wide 
range of support already delivered across different government schemes. 
Due to the risk to current and former locally employed staff and other 
vulnerable people, over 15,000 people had been evacuated from 
Afghanistan by the UK Government.  
 
The Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy would offer relocation and 
other assistance to current and former locally employed staff. The Afghan 
Citizens’ Resettlement Scheme would resettle up to 20,000 people at risk. 
The scheme would prioritise vulnerable people, those who had supported 
UK efforts in Afghanistan and those who had stood up for democratic 
values. 
 
The Government had announced a core local authority funding tariff and 
additional funding would be provided to support education and health 
provision in the first year of resettlement.   
 
*RESOLVED –  
 

1. That, subject to confirmation of the partnership approach with 
Derbyshire County Council, Chesterfield Borough Council’s 
participation in the Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy and 
Afghan Citizens’ Resettlement Scheme be approved.  
 

2. That the resettlement of up to six families through the two schemes 
over a five-year period, utilising Council housing stock and stock 
owned by registered social housing providers, be approved.  
 

Page 5



CABINET 02.11.21 

4 
 
 

3. That the Cabinet Member for Governance, in consultation with the 
portfolio holders for Housing and Health and Wellbeing, be granted 
delegated authority to consider urgent requests from the 3 
Government regarding these schemes and future refugee 
resettlement schemes.  

 
REASONS FOR DECISIONS  
 
To contribute to the national Government and Local Government 
response to the humanitarian crisis in Afghanistan, protecting current and 
former locally employed staff and their families and refugees identified as 
particularly vulnerable including women and girls at risk, and members of 
minority groups at risk, including ethnic and religious minorities and 
LGBT+ communities. 
 

49    STAVELEY TOWN CENTRE DRAFT MASTERPLAN  
 
The Joint Growth Unit Manager presented a report on the Staveley Town 
Centre - Draft Vision Masterplan and sought approval to commence 
consultation on its content.  
 
Like many town centres, Staveley faced a number of issues and 
challenges. The purpose of the Draft Vision Masterplan was to refresh the 
vision for Staveley Town Centre and support the development of several 
key projects to improve its viability and vitality ahead of the council 
making funding submissions to the £25.2m Staveley Town Deal 
programme. A copy of the draft Staveley Town Centre Vision Masterplan 
briefing pack was attached at Appendix 1 of the officer’s report. 
 
*RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the draft Staveley Town Centre Vision Masterplan, the 
associated supporting material and the proposed approach for 
public consultation be approved.  
 

2. That the Service Director - Economic Growth, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Town Centres and Visitor Economy, be 
granted delegated authority to make amendments and corrections 
to the draft Staveley Town Centre Vision Masterplan and associated 
supporting material to make it ready for public consultation.  
 

Page 6



CABINET 02.11.21 

5 
 
 

3. That, following public consultation, the final draft version of the 
Staveley Town Centre Vision Master Plan be presented to Cabinet 
for further consideration and approval.  

 
REASONS FOR DECISIONS  
 

1. To allow consultation to be undertaken on the draft Staveley Town 
Centre Vision Masterplan in accordance with the Council’s 
published Statement of Community Involvement and 
Communications and Engagement Strategy.  
 

2. To allow for minor amendments prior to consultation to finalise the 
consultation material.  
 

3. To inform the final draft version of the masterplan following 
consultation and development of the project delivery plan for future 
Cabinet consideration. 

 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

For publication 
 

Council Plan Delivery Plan 2021/22 Quarter 2 Monitoring (DL040) 

 

Meeting: 

 

Cabinet  

Date:  

 

23.11.21 

Cabinet 

portfolio: 

 

Deputy Leader  

Directorate: 

 

Corporate  

For publication  

 

 

1.0 Purpose of the report 

 

1.1 To report and challenge progress made for the second quarter of the 

third year of the Council Plan against the milestones and measures 

identified in the 2021/22 delivery plan.  

 

2.0 Recommendations 

 

2.1 That Cabinet note the significant achievements against the priority areas 

within the Council Plan Delivery Plan.  

 

2.2 That Corporate Management Team leads for all amber rated milestones 

meet with relevant key officers to develop improvement strategies to 

support further progress in quarters 3 and 4.  

 

3.0 Reason for recommendations 

 

3.1 To progress delivery of the Council Plan 2019 - 2023 and maximise 

positive outputs and outcomes for our communities.  

 

4.0 Report details 

 

4.1 Background  

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



The Council Plan 2019 – 2023 was agreed by Council in February 2019. The 

plan identifies the Council’s key priorities, objectives and commitments 

over a four year period.  In order to track and challenge progress across 

the four years, annual delivery plans are developed. This report highlights 

performance against the 2021/22 delivery plan. 

 

5.2 Overall performance  

 

Appendix 1 shows the progress made on the 41 milestones being tracked 

during 2021/22. 87% of milestones are currently progressing well and are 

expected to be completed during 2021/22. This is an increase from 73% 

since quarter 1 due to challenge, mitigation and new approaches being 

developed via Finance and Performance Board and the Corporate 

Leadership Team. 13% of milestones currently rated as amber with 

further mitigation work taking place.  21 measures are being tracked on a 

quarterly basis, 76% are currently meeting their targets, the same as at 

quarter 1.  

 

5.3 Making Chesterfield a thriving borough  

 

17 milestones are currently being tracked for this priority area. 88% of 

milestones are currently progressing well and are expected to be 

completed during 2021/22.  12% are currently rated as amber.  Covid-19 

continues to be the key cause of delays and uncertainty for amber rated 

milestones. Key improvements since the last quarter include a new events 

programme which enables a mix of small and larger scales events 

organised with a range of partners to maximise resident and visitor 

engagement and a new approach to schools engagement to enable STEM 

programmes to re-launch for 2021/22 with a stronger link to future career 

opportunities.  

 

5.4 We are currently tracking five measures for this priority on a quarterly 

basis and four have met their targets. One planning measure is currently 

within 10% tolerance of the target and is likely to recover for year end.  

Planning Services have maintained their performance in terms of speed 

for majors and quality during the period despite an increase in planning 

applications.  Town Centre occupancy also continues to outperform the 

national average, has improved since quarter 1 and is an area of real 

focus for teams.  

 

5.5 Improving quality of life for local people  

 

Page 10



14 milestones are currently being tracked for this priority area.  87% of 

milestones are currently progressing well and are expected to be 

completed during 2021/22 compared to 86% at quarter 1.  13% are 

currently rated as amber.  Key improvements since the last quarter 

include a new approach for Local Democracy activity incorporating scaled 

down Covid-19 secure visits with school packs to enable in class and 

homework activity. While the Climate Change Action Plan remains rated 

as amber, due to mainly to the size, scale and complexity of the milestone, 

significant achievements have been made. At quarter 1, 13 of the actions 

had been completed, this has now increased to 21. However the mid-plan 

review added identified a further six critical actions.  

 

5.6 We are currently tracking four measures for this priority on a quarterly 

basis and all have met their targets so far.  We have maintained decent 

homes standards and our five green flags for parks and open spaces. But 

the real progress has been around re-engaging residents in physical 

activities and wellness programmes.  A huge push has been made 

through the leisure centres to re-ignite the learning to swim programmes.  

We currently have 2064 children and adults signed up – higher than pre-

pandemic levels.  At quarter 1 over 400 people have also taken part in 

formal activities for the ‘year of outdoors’ by the end of quarter 2 this had 

increased to over 4,000 with many more taking part on informal activities.  

 

5.7 Providing value for money services  

 

10 milestones are currently being tracked for this priority area.  80% of 

the milestones are currently progressing well and are expected to be 

completed during 2021/22 compared to 60% at quarter 1. Key 

improvements since the last quarter include significant progress on the 

ICT improvement programme actions for 2021/22 and the development of 

a draft Asset Management Plan to be considered by Cabinet later in 

2021/22.  

 

5.8 We are currently tracking 12 measures for this priority on a quarterly 

basis and 58% have met their targets so far.  This includes strong 

performance around digital engagement across all social media platforms 

and the Council’s digital customer service portal – My Chesterfield, which 

now has over 16,000 sign ups and increases in reach across all social 

media channels. The call centre also continues to be a challenging area for 

performance. Call answering times are still vastly improved from the 

2020/21 position there have been significant challenges relating self-

isolation due to Covid-19, internal promotions and delays to DWP 

Page 11



Kickstarter recruitment, all impacting on performance during quarter 2. 

Due to increased support and completion of vital recruitment the position 

is now improving.  

 

5.0 Alternative options 

 

6.1 No alternative options have been identified.  

 

6.0 Implications for consideration – Financial and value for money 

 

6.1 Progressing several of the milestones within the delivery plan are critical 

to delivering the medium term financial plan and ensuring financial 

sustainability. 

 

7.0 Implications for consideration – Legal 

 

8.1 No legal considerations have been identified. 

 

8.0 Implications for consideration – Human resources 

 

9.1 Human resource re-prioritisation to key areas during the Covid-19 

pandemic had a significant impact on delivery of several milestones. 

Investment in our people has however continued to be a key focus area 

with significant achievements against the People Plan and an extension of 

our Silver Investors in People award. 

 

9.0 Implications for consideration – Council plan 

 

10.1 The Delivery Plan for 2021/22 contributes to the overall delivery of the 

Council Plan 2019 – 2023.   

 

10.0 Implications for consideration – Climate change 

 

11.1 The Climate Change Action Plan is one of the key priorities for delivery within the 

delivery plan.  Progress is rigorously challenged via Finance and Performance 

Board and Scrutiny. Individual milestones and related decisions are now 

assessed for their Climate Change impact.  

 

11.0 Implications for consideration – Equality and diversity 

 

11.1 Individual milestones are assessed for their equality and diversity impact.  

Overall the delivery plan makes a significant positive impact for the 

community including people with protected characteristics. 

Page 12



 

12.0 Implications for consideration – Risk management 

 

 

Decision information 

Description of the 

Risk 

Impact Likelihood Mitigating Action Impact Likelihood 

Failure to make 

sufficient progress on 

Council plan delivery 

H H Assessment of 

Covid-19 impact.  

 

Re-prioritisation of 

priorities and 

resources.  
 

M M 

Failure to complete 

projects on 

time/budget/to 

quality standards. 

H H Performance 

management 

framework has 

helped to identify 

at risk areas due to 

Covid-19 pandemic 

and other issues. 

Plans in place to 

improve 

performance or 

develop alternative 

solutions that meet 

outcomes.  
  

M M 

Core services unable 

to identify 

contribution to the 

corporate priorities 

H H Performance 

management 

framework has 

helped to identify 

at risk areas due to 

Covid-19 pandemic 

and other issues. 

Plans in place to 

improve 

performance or 

develop alternative 

solutions that meet 

outcomes.  
  

M M 

Page 13



 

Key decision number Non-key 204 

Wards affected All  

 

Document information 

 

Report author 

Service Director – Corporate  

 

Appendices to the report 

Appendix 1 Quarter 2 performance report  

 

 

Page 14



Appendix 1  

1 
 

l 

 

 
1.0 Introduction and performance overview    

2.0 Performance dashboard  

3.0  Priority - Making Chesterfield a thriving borough 

4.0 Priority - Improving the quality of life for local people 

5.0 Priority - Providing value for money services 
 
 

 

1.1 Drawing upon an extensive evidence base and using horizon scanning tools we developed a new 
four year plan from 2019 to 2023 with the same vision – putting our communities first.  The plan 
provides a focus to our activities and identifies the priorities which require a collective corporate 
effort to deliver real outcomes.   

1.2 It isn’t just about what we do that is important, it is the way that we do it. The council has four 
values that describe how we will work to achieve our vision of putting our communities first: 

 We are customer focused: delivering great customer service, meeting customer needs.  We 
regularly carry out satisfaction surveys to find out what our communities and residents think of 
the services we provide.  We engage with our residents, tenants, visitors and businesses 
through a wide range of groups, forums, roadshows and online, seeking their views on our 
services and how we can improve them. We look to deal promptly and effectively with 
complaints and always welcome comments and compliments. 

 We take a can do approach: striving to make a difference by adopting a positive attitude.  Our 
staff come up with and deliver solutions to problems and regularly go the extra mile to ensure 
our communities are well served.  We contribute actively to partnerships with other 
organisations in the borough and beyond.  We manage our suppliers and contractors fairly but 
robustly to make sure we get the best from the public money we spend. 

 We act as one council, one team: proud of what we do, working together for the greater good. 
We value regular and open engagement with all staff and carry out regular surveys to find out 
how we can improve as an employer.  We invest in the development of our staff, regularly 
attracting additional funding for training.  We promote a commercial outlook within our teams, to 
make sure we secure value for money and look for opportunities to generate additional income 
that we can then invest in service delivery. 

 We believe in honesty and respect: embracing diversity and treating everyone fairly.  The 
council has a strong record of going well beyond its statutory equality duties and regularly works 
with partners to host and promote events throughout the borough that celebrate diversity.  Our 
staff and councillors work well together and individuals are able to express their views openly 
within their teams and at wider meetings and events. 

1.3 To ensure we stay on track for delivery we are also developing annual delivery plans.  These 
delivery plans identify the key milestones, inputs, outputs and measures we will need to deliver 
during each year of the plan to maintain progress.  The delivery plan will be reviewed annually and 
approved by Council in February alongside the budget and medium-term financial plan. 

1.4 This report focuses on the progress made during the second quarter on our third Council Plan 
Delivery Plan – 2021/22 and the milestones and measures for our three priority areas: 

 Making Chesterfield a thriving borough 

 Improving the quality of life for local people 

 Providing value for money services 

Quarter 2 – Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2021/22  

1.0 Our Council Plan – Vision, Values and Priorities   

 

Page 15



Appendix 1  

2 
 

1.5 It is important to note that Covid-19 continues to be a key challenge during 2021 and has continued 
to have a significant impact on delivery in a variety of ways including: 

 Diverting resources into Covid-19 response – community and economic measures  

 Challenges around delivering Covid-19 safe workplaces and activities  

 The impact of government guidance / public expectations  

 Partnership challenges due to Covid-19 demands on key partners  

 Supply chain challenges  
 
All activities have continued to be assessed throughout the period for Covid-19 impact and 
response.  

 
 
 

 

Total delivery plan milestones in 2021/22          

 

 

Total delivery plan measures in 2021/22 

 

Making Chesterfield a thriving borough milestones 

 

 

 

Making Chesterfield a thriving borough measures 

 

87%

13%

Milestones on target

Significant progress made - behind target

Performance challenge

76%

10%

14%

Target met Within 10% tolerance Target not met

88%

12%

Milestones on target

Significant progress made - behind target

Performance challenge

80%

20%

Target met Within 10% tolerance Target not met

2.0 Performance dashboard 

 

Page 16



Appendix 1  

3 
 

 

Improving quality of life for local people milestones 

 

Improving quality of life for local people measures 

 

Providing value for money services milestones  

 

Providing value for money services measures 

 

 

 

 

3.1 There are four objectives for this priority area: 

 Chesterfield Borough – A great place to live, work and visit 

 Vibrant town centres 

 Build a stronger business base 

 Develop an inclusive and environmentally sustainable approach to growth 

3.2 The progress on the key milestones for this priority is detailed in the table below. At quarter 1, 71% 
of the milestones remained on target for completion in 2021/22. This has now increased to 88% 
following challenge and the development of mitigation and new approaches to achieve outcomes. 
There are challenges with 12% of the milestones where delays have been experienced due to the 
prioritisation of other projects, funding changes and availability of supplies and labour.  

 

Milestone  RAG Progress 

93%

7%

Milestones on target

Significant progress made - behind target

Performance challenge

100%

Target met Within 10% tolerance Target not met

80%

20%

Milestones on target

Significant progress made - behind target

Performance challenge

67%
8%

25%

Target met Within 10% tolerance Target not met

3.0 Priority – Making Chesterfield a thriving borough  

 

Page 17



Appendix 1  

4 
 

TB1 - Progress the 
Covid-19 economic 
recovery action plan. 
Minimise the negative 
impact of Covid-19 in 
terms of business 
closures and jobs lost. 

 

 Progress continues on a range of activities and initiatives within 
the Economic Recovery Plan. Highlights for quarter 2 include: 

 Chesterfield Jobs Market held in partnership with Job Centre 
Plus. Timed to support the approx. 2800 residents on the 
furlough scheme (ceased September 2021). Many local 
businesses took part and were actively recruiting. A further 
event is being planned for November.  

 Uplift in business premises enquiries between July and 
September 2021. Town Centre occupancy has reduced from 
13.9% in the first quarter to 12.4% in the second. The 
average nationally is 14.6% 

 Occupancy at the two innovation centres are returning to pre-
Covid-19 levels with just below 80% occupancy  

 Vision Derbyshire Business Start up programme has been 
formally launched.  Chesterfield residents interested in 
starting a business can now access one to one support from 
a business start up adviser and can access grant support to 
support business start up costs 

 The Digital High Street project was launched in the last 
quarter and is now making a positive impact on Chesterfield’s 
High Street businesses.  Dedicated support is available from 
Digital High Street advisers who are actively engaging with 
retail businesses from across Chesterfield.  Businesses are 
being supported to become more resilient by investing in e-
commerce, social media marketing etc.  At the end of the first 
quarter of operation, over 20 local businesses had signed up 
to take part in the scheme.   

 The “My Future” portal continues to be updated and 
refreshed to highlight digitally the opportunities locally for 
training and employment.   

 CBC continues to drive forward proposals for a Construction 
Skills Hub and DRIIVe (rail innovation and training Centre) as 
part of the Staveley Town Deal.   

 CBC continue to engage with businesses via the Business 
Engagement Officer role and quality relationships are 
developing that are informing how we deliver support to our 
Town Centre stakeholders, signposting them to wider 
support.  

  The Love Chesterfield campaign and “Little and Often” 
events have continued and the traditional larger events such 
as 1940’s Market are planned for the next quarter. 

 The Council’s new Enterprise Centre is being constructed to 
BREAAM excellent standard and the roll-out of EV charging 
points, alongside the development of active travel measures, 
are supporting the Council’s climate change programme 

 The delivery of key regeneration schemes has continued with 
the completion of the Chesterfield Waterside Basin Square 
office block anticipated in the new year, as is the Northern 
Gateway Enterprise Centre 

 The upgraded public realm works on Elder Way have been 
completed with the next phase programmed in the new year.  

 We completed consultation on a draft masterplan for 
‘Revitalising the Heart of Chesterfield’ and are now working 
with traders to agree a new stall design and layout for the 
market. We have continued design and preparation work 
ahead of any announcement on our Levelling Up bid 

Page 18



Appendix 1  

5 
 

 Work has progressed well on the new Jewson facility on 
Sheffield Road with the programme on track for early 
February which will facilitate the start of work on the first 
phase of the new Station Link Road. 

TB2 - Complete and 
open the Northern 
Gateway Enterprise 
Centre 

 Construction of the new Northern Gateway Enterprise Centre 
continues. It is expected that we will be able to start furnishing 
the centre at the end of November with completion planned for 
December 2021. This is slightly later than planned due to labour 
and skills shortages, however the centre will be completed during 
2021/22.  

TB3 - Progress the 
land assembly plan 
for the next phase of 
the Northern Gateway 
 

 Active engagement with landowners continues with further 
opportunities being identified for 2021/22 and beyond.  
 

TB4 - Complete the 
Elder Way and the 
Packers Row public 
realm improvements 
 

 Work to enhance the public realm has been completed on Elder 
Way, creating an attractive streetscene with trees, wider 
footways an more emphasis on pedestrian access. The street 
furniture has been renewed. The scheme compliments the Elder 
Way development creating outdoor leisure space use for the 
businesses and their customers. Work is due to start on the next 
phase on Packers’ Row in January 2022 after the peak 
Christmas shopping period and is programmed to be complete by 
the end of March 2022. This will extend the public realm 
approach into the town centre. Packers Row forms the first part 
of the Levelling Up project for Chesterfield, which will benefit from 
the Government’s grant funding of £19.8m 
 

TB5 - Complete the 
construction of and 
open the Waterside 
office development.  
 

 Construction partners Britcon are progressing well on site despite 
challenges around weather conditions and labour shortages 
related to Covid-19. The structural frame has been completed 
with all floor and roof structures in place. Walling and window 
installation has commenced. The mechanical and electrical 
services works can now commence. The construction phase is 
expected to be completed towards the end of 2021/22. The first 
tenant for the new building is signed up and will undertake their 
own fit out works ready to take up their tenancy in Spring 2022. 
There has been other interest in taking space and we are in 
discussions with other businesses with a view to taking a lease.   
 

TB6 - Refresh the 
Waterside masterplan 
and achieve planning 
permission for next 
phase of Basin 
Square.  

 AECOM have now completed their strategic review of the 
Waterside Masterplan and have also developed estimated costs 
for the next stages. The development of Basin Square is 
anticipated to include residential development, a new multi storey 
car park and a hotel. 
 
Pre-application discussions are being undertaken for the 
remaining development plots – a report will be brought forward to 
Cabinet recommending the next stages.  
 
Reserved Matters Planning applications submitted for next phase 
of Basin Square – further information required from developer 
before applications can be determined. Discussions are taking 
place with a credible party to deliver the residential development 
element of Basin Square. 
 

Page 19



Appendix 1  

6 
 

TB7 - Complete 
consultation, develop 
and adopt the HS2 
station masterplan 

 The consultation phase was completed in March 2021 and the 
HS2 station masterplan was adopted in July 2021.  
 

TB8 - Deliver the first 
phase of the Hollis 
Lane Link Road to 
start to unlock the 
HS2 Station 
masterplan 

 Work has started onsite for a new builders’ merchant to enable 
possession of a key site for the construction of the station link 
road connection at the Hollis Lane end. The construction is likely 
to be complete in February 2022, this will enable the next phase 
of the plan. Derbyshire County Council will undertake the 
development of the first phase of the new link road starting in 
Spring and finishing in Autumn 2022. The new link road when 
fully complete will take some traffic out of the town centre, 
provide better access for all forms of travel to the railway station, 
strengthen links with the town centre and enable the 
development of the employment land within the station 
masterplan area. 
 

TB9 - Develop the 
visitor economy 
strategy and action 
plan 

 Work on the preparation of the Visitor Economy Strategy and 
Action Plan is currently underway. Following a procurement 
exercise, consultants Team Tourism (specialist consultants in the 
tourism and visitor economy sector) were appointed in March 
2021 to develop the Strategy. Team Tourism have undertaken a 
review of the evidence base (including a number of interviews 
with internal and external stakeholders) and produced a Situation 
Report which has been shared with the steering group and also 
with the CBC Scrutiny Project. The Situation Report provided the 
basis for discussion around identification of future visitor 
economy priorities which will underpin the preparation of the draft 
strategy. The draft has been completed and will be presented to 
Cabinet prior to further public/stakeholder engagement.  

TB10 - Deliver and 
support a programme 
of borough wide 
events 

 A revised programme was developed for 2021/22 which enabled 
a number of events to be developed and or supported by 
Chesterfield Borough Council, taking into account the latest 
guidance regarding Covid-19. Activities undertaken and planned 
so far: 

 ‘Little and often’ entertainment programme for Chesterfield 
town centre  

 Chesterfield BC were the headline sponsor for Chesterfield 
Pride 2021 at Stand Road Park in August  

 Year of Outdoors campaign includes formal and informal 
events and activities in parks and open spaces across the 
borough and also incorporated the walking festival for 2021  

 The 1940s market returns in October 2021 

 Stand Road Fireworks Display in partnership with 
Chesterfield Football Club will take place in November 2021 

 The popular Christmas Lights Switch on event is currently 
being finalised and will form part of a wider programme of 
Christmas entertainment and markets  

 

TB11 - Support the 
development of Peak 
Resort and Summit at 
the Peak, maximising 
the benefit for 
Chesterfield’s 
economy.  

 Our support for the Peak Resort development continues, 
however Summit@Peak has experienced a delay to works due to 
the discovery of voids in the historic landfill below the site. 
Further studies have been commissioned and a plan developed. 
It is expected that works will re-commence shortly – subject to 
discharge of the planning conditions.  
 
Work is also advancing on other elements of Peak Resort. 

Page 20



Appendix 1  

7 
 

Gateway@Peak has progressed with the feasibility study 
completed and a Joint Venture structure is being finalised 
between Birchall and Milligan group to facilitate the development. 
 
Wellness@Peak is also progressing.  Heads of Terms have been 
signed with the developer to deliver 171,500sqft of world class 
wellness facilities including a medical spa, clinical suite, elective 
theatres, specialist retail and 120 apart-hotel rooms.  Reserved 
Matters planning permission has been granted and a Section 106 
Agreement was signed in February 2021.  Work is expected to 
begin on site Q1 2022. 
 

TB12 - Complete the 
master plan for the 
Stephenson Memorial 
Hall Project, including 
the project strategy, 
funding strategy, 
business case, 
programme plan, cost 
plan, procurement 
strategy, and risk 
management plan. 

 Plans continue to be developed with listed building consent being 
applied for in October 2021. Officers have conducted three 
information workshops for elected members during July and held 
an information meeting for Cultural Services staff. In addition, 
project briefings have been presented to external organisations, 
including Arts Council England, Derbyshire County Council, Arts 
Derbyshire, Destination Chesterfield, Chesterfield College, and 
Chesterfield Theatre Friends. 
 
We are awaiting the outcome for our bid for Levelling Up funding 
following our application submission in June 2021. We have also 
submitted expressions of interest for two other funding schemes 
administered by the Arts Council: Museum Estate and 
Development Fund (MEND) and Cultural Development Fund 
(CDF) to support the project. 
 

TB13 - Staveley Town 
Deal if successful with 
bid to Government, 
implement Staveley 
Town Deal 
Investment Plan 

 The Staveley Town Deal Board was successful in securing £25.2 
million from Town Deal funding. Chesterfield Borough will act as 
the accountable body and lead partner. We have reported our 
monitoring and evaluation plan and summary to Government for 
the 11 projects within the Town Deal.  
 
Capital funding has been secured to assist projects to develop 
their business cases and an internal programme board has been 
established to provide check and challenge to the process. 
External appraisers have also been appointed to add further 
challenge to ensure robust business cases can be submitted by 
January 2022.  
 
The 11 Town Deal projects are in the process of preparing their 
Green Book compliant business cases. LUHC (Levelling up, 
Housing and Communities) have provided us with a 5% advance 
payment from the Town Deal (£1.26m) for projects to develop 
and progress.  
 
A communications & Engagement Group is working on promotion 
and links with the community and stakeholders. Work with other 
CBC services has begun to further support the area to improve 
lives and opportunities in Staveley. The Town Deal Manager and 
Engagement Officer are in post, admin support with recruitment 
taking place for the apprentice role.  
 

TB14 - Progressing 
the Heart of 
Chesterfield 

 Designs for the market reconfiguration have been developed and 
are now at Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) stage 2. 

Page 21



Appendix 1  

8 
 

programme including 
commencement of the 
Market 
reconfiguration project 

The public consultation stage has been completed and dialogue 
continues with market traders to inform final designs.  
The programme and designs are being amended to reflect the 
results of the consultation and the Levelling Up programme for 
the town centre and will be coming back to Cabinet and Council 
early in 2022. 
 

TB15 - Complete the 
funding and delivery 
strategy and achieve 
planning permission 
for the Derbyshire 
Rail Industry 
Innovation Vehicle 
(DRIIVE) project – to 
support site 
development for a 
new rail training and 
innovation centre at 
Barrow Hill 
Roundhouse 

 Progress on DRIIVE development has continued with: 

 Refresh of the feasibility study  

 Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) stage 2 designs 
completed 

 Heads of Terms on the land agreed 

 Site investigations and surveys completed  

 Further business case developed, and options appraisals 
have been completed and presented to Staveley Town Deal 
Board in September  

 Full business case to be submitted in January 2022  
 
 

TB16 - Develop a 
Science Technology 
Engineering and 
Maths engagement 
programme with 
schools 

 Schools continue to be significantly impacted by Covid -19 and 
are having to focus on core activities and the health and 
wellbeing of students and staff. This has impacted on the ability 
to deliver non-core activities with schools including engagement 
programmes. However alternative provision has now been 
developed and is being delivered.  
 
The Skills Delivery officer has continued to support the with the 
MADE in Chesterfield Steering Group to develop an engagement 
programme for the MADE in Chesterfield initiative.  A programme 
of STEM related ‘open door’ events has been established with 10 
local businesses from across the manufacturing and construction 
sectors and will be delivered to students from Chesterfield 
schools between the 8th and 26th November 2021.   
 
To understand need and help inform future programme design 
and delivery methods, the Skills Delivery Officer met with 
Chesterfield Careers Leaders on 23rd September. Schools 
reported ongoing challenges in respect of ‘catch up’ following 
covid and limited scope for ‘in school’ engagement, particularly 
for Years 10 and 11. It was reported that there would be more 
scope for ‘in person’ engagement activities from 2022 and that 
there is a need to focus on future skills, in particular robotics and 
automation.  It was also identified that a programme of delivery 
that provided CPD for staff to enable them to embed STEM skills 
in the curriculum would be very well received. 
 

TB17 - Develop and 
adopt a long-term 
parking strategy 
including electric 
vehicle charging 

 Development of the parking strategy is underway. An initial 
meeting with consultants has taken place to start the long-term 
strategic planning. This will include the amount of available 
parking space we currently have and how this may need to 
change in the future. Also the future of transport going forward 
and the required interventions around sustainable travel including 
EV charging and vehicles will need to be considered. 
 
However delivery in key areas has already progressed including: 

Page 22



Appendix 1  

9 
 

 Replacement of obsolete parking equipment – delivering new 
technology (mirroring Saltergate multi-storey car park) which 
enables customers to purchase weekly, monthly and annual 
permits direct from pay stations as well as online. Soresby 
Street was completed in April 21, Beetwell St MSCP in June 
21 and Rose Hill in July 21. The four sites will also accept 
card payment, contactless and Apple pay. 

 Pay by phone has successfully been launched for surface 
pay and display sites – uptake is increasing on a month by 
month basis  

 We are working with Derbyshire County Council and AECOM 
to deliver the vehicle management system for Chesterfield to 
improve traffic flow via the A61 corridor and its arterial routes  

 Electronic signage has been fitted at key strategic routes into 
the town centre to inform customers of car parking status and 
sign post to facilities 

 We have installed 23 electric vehicle charging points 
throughout the town centre utilising £100k of Government 
funding. Further funding has been secured for residential 
settings via the Onstreet Residential Chargepoint Scheme 
which could provide 4 dual chargepoints at up to seven hub 
locations  

 Funding has been secured to provide chargepoints in 
residential settings through the On-street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme. This fund is aimed at providing 
charging facilities to residents who do not have access to off 
street parking for electric vehicle charging, to ensure that this 
is not a barrier to EV use and ownership. The project is to 
provide 4 dual charge points at up to 7 community hub 
locations.  Each location will provide 4 x 7 kW dual outlet Fast 
Chargers – (a total of 8 outlets in each location). 75% of total 
cost is provide through OLEV. The remaining 25% will be 
funded by BP Chargemaster, who will install and manage all 
facilities on behalf of CBC. 

 Structural repairs to Beetwell Street Multi-Storey car park 
have been completed and have led to increased capacity.A 
programme of works including the installation of CCTV and a 
re-decoration and re-signing exercise is planned for 2022. 

 

 
3.3 The progress on the key measures for this priority is detailed in the table below. There are 18 

measures, 5 of which are collected on a quarterly basis.  Four out of five are currently reaching their 
target and are likely to remain on track for 2021/22. One is currently within 10% tolerance and is 
likely to recover by year end.  

  

Measure  2021/22 
Target  

Q2 actual     Rag 
Rating  

Comments  

Number of new homes 
in the borough 

240 Annual 
update  

  

Number of new homes 
in the town centre 

Increase 
from 1 

Annual 
update  

  

Major planning 
applications - speed of 
decisions 

60% 100%  Rolling two-year average required 
of over 60% to meet national 
planning standards  

Page 23



Appendix 1  

10 
 

Other planning 
applications – speed of 
decisions 

70% 69%  Rolling two-year average required 
of over 70% to meet national 
planning standards 

Major planning 
applications – quality of 
decisions  

Under 
10% 

1.78%  Rolling two-year average required 
of under 10% to meet national 
planning standards 

Other planning 
applications – quality of 
decisions  

Under 
10% 

0.23%  Rolling two-year average required 
of under 10% to meet national 
planning standards 

Town centre occupancy 
rates 

Below 
national 
average 
14.5% 

12.4%  Improved from 13.9% in Q1 

Innovation Centre 
occupancy rates  

Baseline  Annual 
update for 
2021 – 
quarterly in 
next years  

 Baseline for new innovation 
centre to be included in 2022/23 

Amount of external 
funding accessed for 
HS2 programme 

£1 million  Annual 
update  

 £9.8 million secured during the 
first two years of the council plan.  
 

Number of businesses Over 3360 Annual 
update 

  

Number of business 
start-ups in the borough  

Over 300 Annual 
update 

  

Number of businesses 
supported to find 
accommodation  

Over 500 Annual 
update 

  

% local labour clauses 100% Annual 
update 

  

% jobs secured by local 
people on 
developments with 
local labour clauses 

50% Annual 
update 

  

Percentage of young 
people not in 
education, employment 
or training  

Below 
national 
average  

Annual 
update 

  

Number of schools and 
businesses engaged in 
skills programmes  

40 Annual 
update 

  

Number of learners 
engaged in skills 
programmes  

400 
 

Annual 
update 

  

Funding levied for skills 
programmes  

Over 
£500k 

Annual 
update 

 Over £1.7 million in external skills 
funding secured during the first 
two years of the Council Plan.  
 

 

Additional data 
we will be 
tracking in 
2021/22 to inform 
decision making 
and priorities  

 Unemployment rates  

 Number of young people not in work, education or training  

 Key economic Census data (likely to be available in early 2022) 

 Businesses supported in partnership with Chamber of Commerce as part of a 
resilience programme 

 Developing Visitor Economy measures as part of Strategy development  

 

Page 24



Appendix 1  

11 
 

 
 
 
 
4.1 There are four objectives for this priority area: 

 Provide quality housing and improve housing conditions across the borough   

 Improve our environment and enhance community safety for our communities and future 
generations 

 Help our communities to improve their health and wellbeing 

 Reduce inequality and provide support to vulnerable people 
 

4.2 The progress on the key milestones for this priority is detailed in the table below. At Q1 86% of the 
measures were meeting their target progress. This has increased to 93%. There are challenges with 
13%, these all relate to Covid-19 impacts contributing to delays and re-prioritisation of activities.  

 

Milestone  RAG Progress 

QL1 - Progress the 
Covid-19 community 
recovery approach, 
focusing on: 
Material insecurity - 
supporting individuals 
and families that are 
feeling the effects of 
material insecurities, 
such as food, 
housing, financial 
hardship. 

  Work undertaken with advice agencies to develop a stronger 
understanding of the impact of Covid-19 on their services – 
further workshops planned for November 2021 to inform 
revised Community Recovery Approach  

 Advice leaflet issues to staff, elected members and to 
Destination Chesterfield Champions to help signpost 
individuals and families to the right places for support at an 
early stage  

 Extensive support to communities via revenues and benefits 
service and tenancy sustainment to maximise income levels 
through benefits and specific covid-19 schemes  

 Continuing to support community and voluntary sector around 
risk assessments, accessing external funding, promoting key 
activities  

 Over £100k of Community infrastructure levy has been 
utilised to support a number of schemes contributing to the 
community recovery approach including Cosy Hub IT 
infrastructure to support homework clubs and CV and 
application form submissions for jobseekers, improvements to 
community spaces to enable grassroot groups to develop and 
thrive, children’s digital library services, improvements to 
parks and open spaces to enable free, accessible exercise 
and wellbeing activities  

 Improved online and social media content to help people to 
access help and support across a broad range of issues 
including housing services, benefits and health information  

 Over 200 local people engaged in the Chesterfield 2Gether 
campaign which included a virtual variety show  

 Year of outdoors campaign launched and being successfully 
delivered to provide a range of opportunities for free and 
inclusive health and wellbeing opportunities  

 Tier 4 restructure approved at Council – new role Policy and 
Partnerships Manager has been recruited to and will 
strengthen the Community Recovery approach and provide a 
much needed ‘front door’ for community and voluntary sector 
engagement  

 Approach embedded into relevant strategies and policies – 
example – Rough Sleeper Strategy refresh detailed at QL3 

4.0 Priority – Improving quality of life for local people  

 

Page 25



Appendix 1  

12 
 

QL2 - Developing 
private sector housing 
improvement plan 
(following on from 
audit work in 2020/21) 
to focus on protecting 
private tenants and 
landlord engagement, 
education and 
enforcement 

 The Private Sector Housing Improvement Plan was approved by 
Cabinet on 13.04.21. This provides a clear direction of travel and 
priorities for the service. 

The Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy came into force in 
May 21 and outlines the financial support available to residents of 
Chesterfield occupying private owned/rented accommodation.  
This policy continues to be administered and offers wide range of 
adaptations and improvements for vulnerable residents living in 
our borough. 

A Senior Private Sector Housing Environmental Health Officer 
has been appointed and is due to join and strengthen the team in 
January 2022. Whilst private sector housing enforcement 
continues to be robust, the new post will allow the team to have 
greater focus on improving housing conditions for private sector 
tenants and greater engagement with private landlords.   

We successfully secured £1.5 million in external funding to 
support owner occupiers and private sector landlords to improve 
the energy efficiency of their homes and also to help tackle fuel 
poverty. Since the scheme launched we have received over 150 
enquiries. Improvements to three properties have been 
completed and a further 52 are being progressed.  

The team haven’t been able to hold their usual landlord forum in 
2021.  However, it is hoped that we will be able to resume the 
forum in 2022 as this event is well attended by landlords and 
partners and is a great educational tool to provide 
landlords/property agents with essential legislative and 
operational updates. 

QL3 - Refresh the 
Rough Sleeper 
Strategy to build on 
the Homelessness 
Covid-19 response 
and recovery  
 
 

 The revised Rough Sleeper Strategy was approved by Cabinet in 
June 2021. The strategy includes 38 commitments around 
prevention, intervention and recovery.  Learning from the 
pandemic and Community Recovery Approach have been 
incorporated with new areas of work including: 

 Hidden homeless 

 Improved specialist residential care for more complex cases  

 Stronger and earlier engagement with probation and offender 
management services  

 Enhanced benefits and debt advice 

 Routes to employment support  

 Improved out of hours service  
 
The official Rough Sleeper Count figures demonstrate a 
reduction in rough sleeper numbers during the span of the 
Council Plan, demonstrating a positive impact of our action and 
partnership approach for this critical issue.  
2018 – 18  
2019 – 13 
2020 – 9 
2021 - 5 
 

QL4 - Complete the 
£7.1 million 
modernisation 
programme of Council 

 Works are now complete at Pullman Close including general 
environmental upgrades comprising of landscaping (new planting 
scheme, re-grassing etc), the de-cluttering of the street scene by 
removing under-utilised stores to create welcoming entrances 

Page 26



Appendix 1  

13 
 

homes at Pullman 
Close, Mallard Court, 
Leander Court and 
Aston Court in 
Staveley 
 

and canopies, external lighting, paving and access paths 
renewed etc. with garden areas created for residents to socialise 
through gabian basket seating. All fencing replaced to add 
security and reduce anti-social behaviours of others entering the 
site.  Internal communal areas have been refurbished (new front 
doors, lighting) with every surface renewed or decorated. All 
buildings have been externally rendered and have had window 
replacements, all to brighten and modernise the area into a more 
contemporary style. 

Leander Court and Mallard Court are currently under construction 
where the former general use Leander Court is being 
incorporated into Mallard Court to form one sheltered 
accommodation scheme.  Roof works are now complete, all 
external windows have been fitted. Internal works in all units are 
completed to first fix stage with base and wall units now fully 
fitted out for both disabled access kitchens (2No.) and the 
majority of the standard new kitchen installs. External cladding is 
currently being erected. Internal atriums are currently being ‘cut 
out’.  All works are still on program and budget for an April 2022 
completion in preparation for a late June 2022 start at Aston 
Court. 

Structural underpinning works to the existing buildings 
foundations in the area set to house the new lift and connecting 
reception lobby are complete and a new internal insulated floor to 
this area is currently being constructed also in this area. 

Regular Health and Safety audits have been undertaken on this 
site and the contractor has been commended on their 
exceptional high standards of safe working practices. 

All works are still on target and budget for an April 2022 
completion in preparation for a late June 2022 start at Aston 
Court.  

QL5 - Support key 
Covid-19 schemes 
including assisting 
with community 
response, testing and 
mass vaccination 
programmes 

 During 2021/22 we continued to support a range of Covid-19 
support schemes including: 

 Final payments around business support grants  

 Continued Covid-19 engagement, education and where 
necessary enforcement with businesses  

 Winding Wheel Theatre used as a vaccination centre – this 
programme has now closed 

 Car Parking sites used for testing facilities  

 Covid-19 hub updates via website and social media 
campaigns  

 Continued to support range of local resilience forum 
campaigns and requests for support 

 Progressing community recovery approach and economic 
recovery plan to support overall borough recovery   

 

QL6 - Deliver year 2 
of the climate change 
plan including 
progressing the 
climate change 
communication and 
engagement strategy 

 Following a mid-point review, six new actions were added to the 
original 39 agreed actions within the Climate Change action plan, 
taking us to 45 actions. At Q1 13 of the 39 actions had been 
completed. This has increased to 21 at Q2. A further 19 actions 
are on target to be completed to plan timescales. 5 actions are 
currently running behind schedule due to capacity issues within 
the relevant teams but are still expected to be delivered before 

Page 27



Appendix 1  

14 
 

the end of the plan. This has decreased from 8 at the last 
quarter. A brief overview of the plan activities are highlighted 
below.  
 
Homes and buildings  

 Capital improvements within the Council’s housing stock to 
improve thermal efficiency is continuing to schedule  

 £1.5 million of external funding secured to improve thermal 
efficiency for owner occupiers and private sector landlords 
with energy inefficient properties 

 All new housing projects are being designed and built to 
standards that exceed the minimum standards in Part L 
Building regulations. 

 
Power and electricity  

 All light fittings in CBC-maintained are being switched to LED 
when replaced 

 DCC reports that 96% of the streetlights in the Chesterfield 
area are now LED 

 Local business Don’t Do A Dodo has been launched.  

 Chesterfield BC has green energy suppliers for all electricity 
used  

 
Transport  

 A Borough-wide integrated transport assessment is taking 
place 

 Preparation of the Walking and Cycling SPD remains delayed 
due to resourcing constraints while responding to White 
Paper on Planning. This is still expected by the end of fy 
2021/22 

 National and regional discussions regarding bus service 
regulation are taking place and CBC are engaging with the 
discussion  

 
Industry and business  

 A new sustainability working group has been established as 
part of Destination Chesterfield, and we have engaged with 
existing specialist groups (e.g. construction) 

 The Love Chesterfield Business Awards now includes a 
Sustainability Award. Winner to be announced w/c 18/10/21  

 The £25.2 million Staveley Town Deal funding includes green 
/ clean developments as a key pillar of the programme 

  
Land use  

 A detailed survey of woods and trees in the borough has 
been delivered. This report includes an estimated total value 
of the trees within the borough for: carbon storage 
(£22,863,094) and an annual value covering carbon uptake, 
pollution abatement, and avoided flooding (£4,555,446 per 
year). 

 We are developing a funding bid for the Woodland Trust 
Emergency Tree Fund with the approximate value of £300k 
to develop a detailed trees and woodland strategy, plant an 
area of new woodland and to work with local communities to 
improve engagement with green spaces in the borough  

Page 28



Appendix 1  

15 
 

 Tree planting schedules are in place for 2021/22 with the 
majority of tree planting scheduled for late autumn / winter  

 Changes to verge management have taken place to reduce 
cutting while maintaining safety standards. We mow less 
frequently than all neighbouring councils and we have also 
allocated 27 large areas of Council owned land for a meadow 
mowing regime  
 

Waste  
This has been a challenging area to make progress due to a 
number of key issues: 

 Three government consultation papers have been released 
regarding national waste strategy. The results of these are 
expected to have a significant impact on the volume and 
nature of waste streams within the borough as well as the 
level of service required. As such any future waste strategy 
will need to incorporate these changes – when they are 
released.  

 Digitalisation of key aspects of service requiring resource  

 Pressures around the recycling contract  
 

Engagement and communications  

 The Communications and Engagement Strategy developed 
during 2020/21 is now being progressed. This includes the 
Chesterfield Climate Action Now campaign (CAN) including: 

 Regular features in Your Chesterfield – reaching 49,000 
households  

 Social media campaign – innovative content across five 
social media platforms  

 Chesterfield in Bloom – Climate Change and Recycling 
theme  

 Local Democracy Programme for children and young people 
– Climate Change focus  

 Incorporating CAN into Economic recovery campaigns e.g. 
Love Chesterfield and STEM schools initiatives  

 Sustainable business award category in the Love 
Chesterfield Awards  

 Incorporating CAN into community recovery approach e.g. 
Year of Outdoors  

 Innovative and engaging content for aspire intranet for staff 
and members, managers bulletins and members bulletins 

 
Policy and general  

 The Climate Change Impact Assessment tool is now live and 
being incorporated into reports to decision makers. It has 
been shared with other councils, at least four of which have 
shown an interest in using the tool themselves.  

 We have started rolling out carbon literacy training to elected 
members. Training for officers is due to follow. 

 We are exploring tools for assessing the council’s own 
carbon emissions, and this work will be carried forward into 
work on decarbonisation pathways and milestone targets for 
climate change mitigation activities. 

 

QL7 - Develop the 
parks and open 

 Public consultation on the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy and 
Play Strategy are taking place during September and October 

Page 29



Appendix 1  

16 
 

strategy and action 
plan 

2021. Outline action plans have been developed into which we 
will feed any suggestions, comments etc from the consultation 
with the general public and elected members. The action plan will 
be developed further to inform an annual work programme. 

The Parks and Open Spaces Strategy is on track to be presented 
at full council in December 2021.  

QL8 - Develop 
outdoor leisure 
programme to enable 
people of all ages and 
abilities to improve 
their physical and 
mental health and 
wellbeing 

 Year of Outdoors campaign developed and successfully being 
delivered in partnership with a range of agencies and community 
and voluntary sector groups.  The project encourages residents 
and visitors to explore Chesterfield's parks and open spaces by 
providing a range of ideas and activities to get involved in.  

Each month has a key theme with events being carefully planned 
to ensure they meet the latest Covid-19 guidance and best 
practice: 

 April 2021 – Connect with nature 

 May 2021 – Mindful May 

 June 2021 – Go wild 

 July 2021 – Best foot forward 

 August 2021 – Month of play 

 September 2021 – Clean and green  

 October 2021 – Xplore / navigate / orientate 

 November 2021 – History month 

 December 2021 – Winter in the park 

 January 2022 – Try something new 

 February 2022 – Connect with your community 

 March 2022 – Grow your own / spring into spring 
 
At the end of Q1 almost 400 people had taken part in activities. 
However engagement has really ramped up following further 
loosening of Covid-19 restrictions and a very active summer 
holiday period. 4087 people have now taken part in formal 
activities and many more engaged in informal ideas and 
activities. 
 

QL9 - Develop a new 
local democracy 
campaign 
 

 A new Local Democracy Campaign and educational tools have 
been developed for 2021/22 incorporating the Climate Change 
theme as part of our Climate Action Now (CAN) campaign.  

Challenges remain in schools due to Covid-19 pressures and 
core learning activity being prioritised due to a catch-up period 
being required.  All schools have however now received their 
lesson plans and climate change activities to incorporate into 
their activities. A number of schools are now booked in for Covid-
19 secure visits (limited numbers and activities) for the remainder 
of 2021/22. Climate Change will continue to be the key theme for 
2022/23.  

QL10 - Plan and 
deliver with the 
Equality and Diversity 
Forum four equality 
and diversity events 

 The Chesterfield Equality and Diversity Forum have made good 
progress in planning events for 2021/22. Events and activities 
confirmed so far include: 

 Stall at Chesterfield Pride (with CBC) in August.  Chesterfield 
Borough Council are the main sponsor for the event  

 LGBT+ research project with Derbyshire LGBT+ 

Page 30



Appendix 1  

17 
 

 Working with Stop Hate UK we delivered training sessions 
around hate V free speech. This was a joint event with 
Chesterfield College  

 In November we will be hosting a Deaf Awareness and Sign 
Language workshop supported by Signs4Life. This will 
include identifying barriers, sign language taster and 
exploring deaf community cultures  

 

QL11 - Develop and 
deliver the LGBT+ 
research project to 
coincide with Census 
2021 delivery 

 CBC have commenced a joint engagement project with 
Derbyshire LGBT+.  The project aims to capture LGBT+ 
customer insight and perceptions about our services and will 
include a questionnaire followed by focus groups.  A report 
including findings and recommended actions to improve 
inclusiveness will follow, along with the opportunity for potential 
mystery shopping exercises to monitor the effectiveness of any 
agreed actions in 2022/23.  

The questionnaire to launch the conversation with the local 
LGBT+ community has been developed and approved and the 
consultation is now live.  

QL12 - Complete the 
commemorations 
review  

 The first phase of the Commemorations Review was completed 
in January 2021 which identified a rich heritage of 
commemorative activity across the borough. The final stage of 
the review was completed in June 2021 with key improvement 
activity being identified including the development of a 
commemorations policy and single route for requests as well as 
improvements around communication and awareness raising.  

QL13 - Deliver year 2 
of the Armed Forces 
Covenant action plan 

 After full delivery of the actions developed for 2020/21, we have 
continued to make progress towards the 2021/22 actions. 
Progress so far includes: 

 Being awarded the prestigious Silver award for the Ministry of 
Defence Employer Recognition Scheme  

 Working in partnership with the Ministry of Defence CTP 
scheme to enable Chesterfield BC job vacancies to be 
advertised directly with armed forces personnel preparing to 
leave the armed forces and those who have left within the 
last five years  

 Partnership working with the Department of Work and 
Pensions to bring back the Veterans Hub to the Town Hall in 
a Covid-19 secure way  

 Taking part in the Armed Forces and Veterans Day campaign 
with a variety of social media content and activities 

 Armistice Day 11th Hour ceremony and Remembrance 
Sunday Service planned with local forces charities, cadet 
units, a range of organisations and schools   
 

QL14 - Working with 
partners to extend the 
care leaver offer and 
maintain progress 

 After full delivery of the Care Leaver Offer in 2020/21 which 
enabled huge improvements to housing options, leisure and 
wellbeing access for care leavers and enabled 17 care leavers 
aged 18 – 25 to access free Council Tax provisions we have 
been improving our offer for 2021/22.  This includes working with 
the leaving care service at Derbyshire County Council to 
introduce new sport and physical activity provision and also 

Page 31



Appendix 1  

18 
 

ensuring care leavers are a key target audience for our 
apprentice town activity and skills provision.  

 
4.3 The progress on the key measures for this priority is detailed in the table below. There are 9 

measures, 4 of which are collected on a quarterly basis. All are currently reaching their target and 
are likely to remain on track for 2021/22.  

  

Measure  2021/22 
target  

Q2 actual  Rag 
Rating  

Comments  

Number of new Council 
homes developed or 
acquired  

30 Annual 
update 

  

Decent homes standard 100% 100%   

Number of people 
supported via Careline 
and Neighbourhoods 
teams 

Baseline  Annual 
update  

 Baseline following transformation 
and marketing approach.  

Number of homeless 
preventions per annum 

Over 300  Annual 
update 

  

Number and amount 
spent on disabled 
facilities grants and 
adaptations 

Over 
£400k  

Annual 
update 

  

Additional amount of 
benefits claimed due to 
Council support   

Over 
£750,000 

Annual 
update 

 Over £1.68 million in additional 
benefits have been claimed during 
the first two years of the Council 
Plan.   

Number of children in 
our learn to swim 
programme  

1900  2064   

Number of people 
engaged in our Year of 
Outdoors activities  

1200 4087  Exceeded target for the year by 
Q2 due to high demand for 
summer programme.   

Number of green flag 
rated parks and open 
spaces  

5 5   

 

Additional data 
we will be 
tracking in 
2021/22 to inform 
decision making 
and priorities  

 Census data (likely to be available in early 2022) 

 Health profile  

 Child poverty measures  

 Welfare and benefits data  

 Corporate parenting board data – care leavers  

 Armed Forces research project (Derbyshire Armed Forces Partnership) 

 Equality and Diversity public sector duty data  

 LGBT+ research project  

 Active lives survey – 2019/20 data is available  
o 70% of adults active at least 150 minutes a week compared to 63% in 

2018/19 
o 20% of adults are inactive compared to 27% in 2018/19 
o 83% of adults have taken part in sport and physical activity twice in the last 

28 days compared to 74% in 2018/19 
o 21% have volunteered in the last 12 months compared to 10% in 2018/19 

 Sport and leisure surveys  

 Findings from community and voluntary engagement activity  

Page 32



Appendix 1  

19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
5.1 There are three objectives for this priority area: 

 Become and stay financially self sufficient  

 Make our services easier to access, deliver savings and reduce our environmental impact 
through the use of technology 

 Improve services and customer interaction by investing in our staff 

5.2 The progress on the key milestones for this priority is detailed in the table below.  At Q1 60% of the 
measures were meeting their target progress. This had improved to 80% at Q2.  

 

Milestone  RAG Progress 

VFM1 - Deliver the 
Council’s Medium-
Term Financial Plan 
and actions for 
2021/22  
 

 2021/22 

The impact of the pandemic continues to influence our financial 

position in 2021/22 and the Council is currently forecasting a net 

deficit variance, on General Fund revenue budgets, of £1,005k 

after Covid-19 related grant support of £1,134k. 

The Council is committed to delivering services within its 

approved budget and has been working collectively through 

budget managers to agree clear, robust, and immediate 

management action plans to address the adverse forecast. 

Measures have included the review of non-essential spending, 

maximising grant opportunities, appropriate charging to other 

funds and general efficiencies. These measures have reduced 

the deficit to £355k. 

MTFP 2022/23 – 2025/26 

Work has been ongoing on the development MTFP including the 

assumptions that underpin it, the identification and review of 

budget pressures and options for savings and efficiencies. This 

work has informed the Council’s Organisational Development 

programme which will support the Council in providing value for 

money services. 

A draft of the new MTFP will be presented to Cabinet in 
December 2021.  However, details of the Council’s funding for 
the next year, from Government, will not be known until the 
Provisional Local Government Settlement is announced in mid-
December. 

VFM2 - Develop and 
launch the Council’s 
Organisational 
Development 
approach to maximise 
delivery of the Council 
Plan and key 
functions  
 

 The Organisational Development (OD) Strategy was approved by 
Cabinet and Council in April 2021. Recruitment to our Head of 
OD post and Project Management Office Manager post has been 
completed, with both employees now in post.  

The Project Management Office framework is being introduced 
across the organisation from November 2021.   

The OD Delivery Plan is being developed and we are aiming for 
this to be approved by Committee later in the 2020/21 financial 

5.0 Priority – Providing value for money services  

 

Page 33



Appendix 1  

20 
 

year. In the meantime, work is continuing to progress key OD 
initiatives e.g. ICT Improvement and the People Plan. 

VFM3 - Focus on 
responsive and 
efficient deployment 
of Government Covid-
19 support schemes 
for businesses and 
residents 

 All Government grant arrangements have been successfully 
deployed.  

£48,774,548 has been paid to businesses in the form of Covid-19 
business grants.  Business Rates relief has now ended and 
revised business rates bills have been issued. 

Benefits such as Council Tax Support, Discretionary Housing 
Payments and Test and Trace payments are being maximised to 
ensure that Chesterfield residents are supported. 

VFM4 - Deliver our 
2021/22 ICT 
improvement 
programme actions 
including further 
development and 
promotion of the My 
Chesterfield digital 
account  
 

 All open workstreams are progressing including: 

 Cloud Migration – architecture and high-level design in 
progress for existing remaining systems. Procurement to start 
in October 2021 

 Office365 Rollout – Phase II in progress adding new features, 
improving security and backup and adding data loss 
prevention tools. 

 Security improvement project in progress and on track to 
achieve PSN and Cyber Essentials Plus certification by the 
end of 2021/22 

 Procurement underway for leisure and ticket booking systems  

 MyChesterfield digital portal now has over 16k customers 
signed up with increasing rates weekly 

 Waste management is now live via MyChesterfield 

 Staff caution list linked to CRM to go live in December 2021  

 Licensing will go live in summer 2022 

VFM5 - Develop our 
future ICT strategy to 
maintain and enhance 
our digital 
improvement journey  
 

 Work has started on developing the next iteration of the ICT 
Strategy for CBC, continuing from the 2018-2021 one. Some 
elements have been paused to enable focus on the cloud 
migration. 

Definition of programmes and workstreams to achieve the 
strategic vision, including costings are expected to be delivered 
early 2022. This will also include longer term strategic planning 
and roadmap beyond 3 years. 

VFM6 - Review the 
Council’s commercial 
approach, services 
and investment 
portfolios and deliver 
actions resulting from 
the review 
 

 This forms part of the Organisational Development (OD) strategy, 
approved by Cabinet and Council in April 2021, and will form part 
of the developing OD Delivery Plan, being prepared for 
consideration by Committee later in the 2021/22 financial year. 
The Head of OD is working with the Finance team and Corporate 
Leadership Team (CLT) to progress planning and implementation 
of the review. 

VFM7 - Undertake an 
exploration project to 
re-shape asset 
management priorities 
to maximise assets 
for operational service 
delivery, council plan 
priority areas 

 
 

 

 

The Council is developing an Asset Management Strategy and 

supporting delivery plan.  The document has been drafted and 

consultation is being undertaken, prior to approval by Committee 

later in the 2020/21 financial year. 

 

Page 34



Appendix 1  

21 
 

including value for 
money  
 

VFM8 - Responding 
to and developing 
plans for re-engaging 
communities with 
leisure and cultural 
facilities to 
maximising customer 
safety, health, 
wellbeing and value 
for money 
 

 Our leisure and cultural services have undertaken a full 
programme of engagement to support the re-opening of the 
services.  

Impact to date resulting from these activities for leisure include 
excellent re-engagement with customers for our learn to swim 
programme, especially given the restrictions in place regarding 
occupancy levels. We have now exceeded pre-Covid-19 targets.  

Memberships statistics for the leisure centres continue to 
improve to perform well with a net growth of 238 as of September 
2021.  

Re-engagement with the museum has also been strong with 
almost 3,000 visits during Q2 compared to 696 in Q1. Over 
16,000 people visited the Visitor Information Centre.  

Theatres and hall bookings have had an extremely challenging 
time nationally and locally due to Covid-19 restrictions, however 
bookings and shows are starting to return. Over 8000 tickets 
were sold for Q2 for cinema and performances and over 110 
room hires.  

VFM9 - Improve 
communication and 
engagement channels 
to reach and influence 
a wider audience for 
key messaging   

 We continually review and improve our communication channels 
(both printed and digital) to ensure timely and relevant 
information is provided to customers. Examples include: 

Your Chesterfield magazine  

We continue to produce the Your Chesterfield residents’ 
magazine (four times a year) and have reviewed editorial content 
to ensure a broad range of information is included, providing key 
information from services. This includes regular signposting to 
the new My Chesterfield platform, to drive sign ups from 
residents and businesses. 

Social media  

We have reviewed the tone and content of our social media 
messaging, to make it more informal and easy to connect with. 
This is increasing engagement and interaction on our posts to 
ensure CBC channels remain visible in social media newsfeeds 
(responding to a change in the algorithm of some platforms which 
will give priority to content with higher engagement levels). 

We have re-established the CBC LinkedIn page to ensure we 
have a platform to share our strong economic, regeneration and 
skills narrative with a targeted professional network.  

We have increased the level of content which is being shared on 
Instagram, particularly for projects which a strong visual link, 
including Love Chesterfield and the Year of Outdoors. 

Internal communications  

Page 35



Appendix 1  

22 
 

We have introduced a new-look aspire newsletter with more 
engaging design and editorial content – more effectively sharing 
key updates with staff. 

We are about to progress an upgrade of the aspire intranet, 
which will include a new look and feel and better navigation – to 
create a more engaging and easy-to-use intranet for staff to 
share key information.  

Members e-bulletins and managers bulletins continue to feature 
key news, messages and advice on a weekly basis.  

VFM10 - Complete 
the Investor in People 
Assessment 
improving silver 
scores in key areas 

 Progress during Quarter 2 has been as follows: 

 Launched the competency framework to all staff with three 
training modules delivered to all managers 

 Delivered leadership and management training to 2 cohorts 
of frontline managers. 

 Delivered content at manager seminars to prepare managers 
for the assessment and equipping them with the tools to self-
assess their leadership strengths. 

 Appointed IIP champions in service areas to support the 
collation of evidence and promote best practice. 

 
 
5.3 The progress on the key measures for this priority is detailed in the table below.  There are 17 

measures, 12 of which are collected on a quarterly basis.  8 are currently reaching their target and 
are likely to remain on track for 2021/22.  4 however have been significantly impacted by Covid-19.  

 

Measure  2021/22 
target 

Q2 actual   Rag 
Rating  

Comments  

Satisfactory opinion 
from external auditor re 
VFM conclusion 

Yes  Annual 
update 

  

Investors in People  Silver  Annual 
update 

  

Number of CBC 
apprentices  

Revised 
target 
required 
due to 
Arvato/kier 
contract 
end  

Annual 
update 

  

Council tax collection  
(cumulative over the 
quarters – so at half we 
would need to be at 
over 50% collection).  

96.4% 56.5%  Collection rates have been 
negatively affected by Covid-19 
which is in line with the national 
picture.  
 
All improving from first quarter.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

NNDR collection rates 
(cumulative over the 
quarters – so at half we 
would need to be at 
over 50% collection). 

97% 51.8%  

Rent collection rates 
(rents are collected 
weekly so could have 

97.7% 90.83%  

Page 36



Appendix 1  

23 
 

up to 100% at this 
stage) 

Revenues, benefits and 
rents calls average time 
to answer 

1 minute 2 minutes 
35 seconds 

 A range of factors contributed to 
the decrease in performance 
during the second quarter of the 
year including self-isolation due to 
Covid-19, internal promotions and 
delays to DWP Kickstarter 
recruitment.  
 
Additional support has been 
provided and recruitment 
completed which will have a 
positive impact for the second 
half of the year.  
 

Switchboard and 
environmental services 
calls average time to 
answer 

1 minute 2 minutes 
21 seconds 

 

Housing repairs hotline 
calls average time to 
answer 

1 minute  3 minutes 
15 seconds  

 

Facebook followers Above 
11,000 

12,859  New channels – You Tube, 
Instagram and Linked In 
introduced for 2021/22. All 
accounts have either exceeded 
targets or on target to achieve by 
year end and continue to increase 
engagement levels.   

Twitter followers  Above 
8,500 

9.011  

Instagram followers  Above 
1,500 

1,496  

You Tube subscribers  Above 250  301  

Linked In  Above 
1,500 

1,581  

My Chesterfield sign 
ups – digital account   

Over 
15,000 

16,000  On target to reach by year end.  

Website hits Over 
500,000 

Annual 
update 

  

 

Additional data 
we will be 
tracking in 
2021/22 to inform 
decision making 
and priorities  

 Trend information from complaints (new complaints system due in 2021/22 – 
which will improve data  

 Service level consultation information  

 IIP employee survey  
 
 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 For publication 

 

General Fund Budget Monitoring 2021/22 

 

Meeting: 

 

Cabinet 

Date:  

 

23 November 2021 

 

Cabinet 

portfolio: 

 

Deputy Leader 

Directorate: 

 

Finance 

 

 

1.0 Purpose of report 

 

1.1 To provide Cabinet with an update on the General Fund revenue position 

at the end of the second quarter 2021/22, including the impact of actual 

and planned management action to address the adverse variance against 

the budget and to reaffirm the Council’s commitment to delivering 

services within budget.  

 

1.2 To meet the requirement in the Financial Procedure Rules to provide 

Cabinet with regular updates on the Council’s financial position. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the financial performance of the General Fund Revenue Account for 

the first half of the financial year be noted (Section 4.2) 

 

2.2 That the General Fund reserves position as set out in Section 4.5 of the 

report be noted. 

 

3.0 Reasons for recommendations 

 

3.1 This periodic report summarises the current assessment of the Council’s 

forecast outturn for the General Fund Revenue Account and enables 

formal monitoring of progress against the 2021/22 budget including the 

impact of actual and planned management actions to address the adverse 

variance to budget.  

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



4.1 General Fund Revenue Account 

 

4.1.1 The Council approved the original General Fund revenue budget for 

2021/22 on 24 February 2021. The Band ‘D’ Council Tax was set at £174.89. 

The forecast budget for 2021/22 was a deficit of £188k, which was to be 

met from the Council’s Budget Risk Reserve if savings and efficiencies were 

not identified during the financial year.  

 

4.1.2 The deficit forecast assumed the in-year delivery of savings amounting to 

£524k, of which £374k would be delivered through the ICT Improvement 

Programme. 

 

4.1.3 All indications pointed to a challenging medium-term outlook. The Medium-

Term Financial Plan (MTFP) forecast approved by full Council on 24 

February 2021 showed deficits of £12k in 2022/23 rising to £181k in 

2025/26 after the delivery of planned savings of £1.285m in 2022/23 rising 

to £1.934m in 2025/26.  

 

4.1.4 Since 24 February 2021, new ongoing cost pressures have emerged, the 

most significant of which are the increased cost of providing a kerbside 

recycling service and the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on fees 

and charges income. The latest forecasts therefore evidence a challenging 

outlook. 

 

4.1.5 The MTFP is currently being reviewed and a revised draft will be presented 

to Cabinet in December 2021.  

 

4.2 Current Year’s Budget 

 

4.2.1 The quarter 2 position was reported to Cabinet and Council on 20 July and 

21 July 2021 respectively. At that point the forecast deficit was £32k for 

2021/22. Key variances included: 

 Additional cost of £869k for an alternative service provider of 

kerbside recycling due to the previous contractor entering 

administration   

 Estimated loss of income of £487k from car parking, sports facilities 

and venues by year end based on the forecast income for the first 

two months of 2021/22. 

These costs were offset by savings and the use of Covid-19 related grant 

support, as follows: 

 Savings of £723k from the buyout of the superior landlord’s interest 

in the Pavements Shopping Centre. The annual cost of borrowing to 

fund the acquisition will start to be incurred from 2022/23. 

Page 40



 £208k from the Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme  

 £153k in Cultural Recovery Grant to offset the costs of operating 

venues and museums  

 £131k in Local Council Tax Compensation Grant.  

 

4.2.2 At the end of the second quarter the Council is forecasting a net deficit 

variance of £1.005m after Covid-19 related grant support of £1.134m. The 

Council has, however, identified mitigations and management actions 

which have reduced the deficit to £355k at year end. A summary of the key 

variances is provided in the table below:  

 

Table 1: 2021/22 UPDATED BUDGET FORECAST – TO END OF QUARTER 2  

Budget item  

Month 2 

Movements 

£000 

Quarter 2 

Movement

s 

£000 

Total 

 

£000 

Deficit at the start of the year 188  188 

Movement during the year    

Vicar Lane – reduction in income 46 193 239 

Recycling Contract 869 0 869 

Reduced Sales, Fees & Charges (Car Parking, 

Sports Facilities, Venues, Markets and Catering) 
487 1,195 1,682 

Industrial and Commercial Properties/ 

Innovation Centres (voids) 
0 125 125 

Pay Award Negotiations 85 0 85 

Non-achievement of Voluntary Redundancy 

savings outside those delivered through the ICT 

Improvement Programme 

0 50 50 

    

Pavements Shopping Centre- income (723) (210) (933) 

Spirepride Trading Account Surplus (81) (68) (149) 

Other net movements (12) (3) (15) 

Covid-19 related support     

Local Council Tax Compensation Grant (131) 0 (131) 

Furlough Scheme (16) 0 (16) 

Cultural Recovery Grant (153) 0 (153) 

Sales Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme (208) 142 (66) 

Other Covid-19 Grants (Environmental Health 

and Contain Outbreak Management Fund) 

0 
(125) (125) 

Covid-19 Grant (Tranche 5) Allocated to General 

Fund 
(320) (324) (644) 

Updated Deficit before Management Actions 

and Mitigations 
32 973 1,005 

Page 41



Management Actions/Mitigations    

Review of Supplies and Services budgets   (113) (113) 

Maximising the use of retained Enterprise Zone 

business rates to support growth projects and 

programmes 

 

(300) (300) 

Review of recharges to capital, HRA and trading 

accounts.  

 
(237) (237) 

Net Forecast Deficit  32 323 355 
NB tables may not sum due to rounding 

 

4.3 Quarter 2 Movements 

 

4.3.1 The final position on rent receipts from the Vicar Lane shopping centre for 

the previous two financial years was received during quarter 2 with rent 

income declining significantly over that period (£193k). 

 

4.3.1 Estimates of the initial impact of Covid-19 on fees and charges income were 

reflected in the month 2 budget monitoring report to Cabinet. These have 

been revised based on the latest position and assumptions at quarter 2 

resulting in further reductions in income of £1,195k for sports centres, 

venues, and car parking. Although the Sales, Fees and Charges 

Compensation Scheme was extended until 30 June 2021, it falls significantly 

short of compensating the council for lost income. The scheme only allows 

for 75% of lost income to be claimed after applying a 5% deductible charge 

based on the approved budget for 2020/21. 

 

4.3.2 Demand for industrial/commercial/innovation centres space has fallen due 

to the Covid-19 pandemic. This has resulted in an additional cost pressure 

of £125k. Loss of income from commercial rents is not covered by the 

Government’s income compensation scheme. 

 

4.3.3 The 2021/22 budget included as an in-year saving a Voluntary Redundancy 

target of £50k in 2021/22. This saving has been removed as it is unlikely to 

be achieved in addition to the in-year Voluntary Redundancy / Voluntary 

Early Retirement savings that will be delivered through the ICT 

Improvement Programme.  

 

4.3.4 The final element of the tranche 5 financial support received from the then 

Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to 

assist with 2021/22 Covid-19 pressures has now been applied in full as has 

the Environmental Health Grant and the Contain Outbreak Management 

Fund (COMF) grant, which was specifically provided to support councils with  

test, trace and contain activities.  

 

Page 42



4.4 Balancing the 2021/22 General Fund Revenue Account 

 

4.4.1 The current forecast has major implications for the MTFP and without 

further management action this adverse variance would increase the 

financial gap and the size of the challenges in future years. 

 

4.4.2 The Council is committed to delivering services within its approved budget 

and has been working collectively through budget managers to agree clear, 

robust, and immediate management action plans to address the adverse 

forecast. Measures have included the review of non-essential spending, 

maximising grant opportunities, appropriate charging to other funds and 

general efficiencies. These measures have reduced the deficit to £355k.  

 

4.4.3 The Council has only 4 months left to recover the potential deficit within 

2021/22 and work is ongoing to identify areas where spending can be 

contained, and income maximised to ensure projected departmental 

forecasts are contained and managed within existing budgets. This will 

include enhanced spending controls and vacancy management.  

 

4.4.4 Corporate communications have already been issued to all budget 

managers reiterating the Council’s challenging financial position and asking 

for caution in relation to spending on non-essential items.  

 

4.4.5 A review of current General Fund reserves and provisions is also underway 

to identify any earmarked monies that could be repurposed to finance any 

shortfall that these activities fail to address. However, it is acknowledged 

that reserves should be used strictly for one off events and not to meet 

service pressures or failures to achieve planned savings. Reserves can only 

be used once and are not the solution to ongoing budgetary pressures.  

 

4.4.6 The outcome of the afore-mentioned activities will be reported to Cabinet 

with the first draft of the 2022/23 General Fund revenue budget in 

December. 

 

4.5 Reserves 

 

4.5.1 In addition to the General Working Balance, which is maintained at £1.5m, 

the Council operates several other reserves. Many of the reserves are 

earmarked and committed for specific purposes, such as property repairs 

and vehicle & plant replacements.  

 

4.5.2 A review of planned commitments against these finite financial resources 

is underway to ensure that they are used in the most effective way and to 

identify any capacity for reassignment if needed. Any suggested changes to 

Page 43



the current use of reserves will be included in the first draft of the 2022/23 

General Fund budget report to Cabinet in December. 

 

4.5.3 There are two major reserves where the Council has wider discretion on 

how they are used. These are the Budget Risk Reserve and the Service 

Improvement Reserve. The uncommitted balances in these two reserves 

currently stand at £1.281m. 

 

4.6 Medium Term Outlook 

 

4.6.1 The MTFP approved at Council on 24 February 2021 evidenced a more 

challenging outlook from 2022/23 onwards with annual forecast deficits 

peaking in 2023/24 at £292k.  

 

4.6.2 The month 2 budget monitoring report to Cabinet in July 2021 revised these 

deficit forecasts upwards to a high of £720k in 2023/24 before improving 

slightly in future years. 
 

4.6.3 The MTFP is currently being reviewed and a revised draft will be presented 

to Cabinet in December 2021. 

 

4.6.4 The MTFP is based on the best available information but inevitably there is 

a degree of risk and uncertainty in some of the assumptions made. The 

most significant risks and uncertainties are outlined below: 

 

 Delivering existing budget savings at the required level and at the 

right time continues to be a challenge. The Council has a good track 

record of tackling budget deficits and delivering savings although it 

has become more difficult to achieve as easier options are 

exhausted. Future budget savings proposals are now focused on 

several larger savings programmes rather than those delivering 

smaller savings. Significant savings from the ICT Improvement 

Programme have been included within the medium-term financial 

forecast and timely delivery is fundamental to achieving a balanced 

budget in future financial years.  

 

 Fees and charges income may take time to recover following the 

effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on attendances particularly at our 

sports centres and venues, with consequential impacts on the 

substantial annual income that the council generates from these 

sources. 

 

Page 44



 Property rents from our industrial, commercial, and retail units 

continue to be affected by the state of the economy and the impact 

of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

 Pay award uplifts of 2% for 2022/23 and future financial years are 

included in the forecasts. The pay award for 2021/22 has, 

however, not yet been agreed. Each 1% increases the costs to the 

General Fund by £113k per annum. 

 

 A programme of capital receipts from the sale of surplus assets 

has been a significant source of funding for the capital programme. 

The pipeline of assets sales is reducing which will mean that future 

capital projects will have to be funded from borrowing. The costs of 

servicing this borrowing will create further pressure on the MTFP.  

 

4.7 Conclusions 

 

4.7.1 The severe impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2021/22 will continue to 

have material financial consequences into the medium term. An event of 

this magnitude undoubtedly means that the Council will need to consider 

closely how its services should operate in the future. There remain 

potential longstanding impacts on Council income if current working and 

spending patterns continue.  

 

4.7.2 The current forecast deficit for the year is £355k. Councils have a legal duty 

to balance their budgets and we must therefore identify appropriate 

courses of action to eliminate the current deficit. 

 

4.7.3 Given the uncertainty and volatility of the forecasts, no budget 

amendments are recommended at this stage.  

 

4.7.4 However, two concurrent actions are required (a) accurate, timely and 

robust financial monitoring through year-end and (b) officers to continue 

to review their respective budgets and identify and agree further savings in 

2021/22 as part of the budget setting process to reduce the in-year deficit 

to a position which will require no or only minimal recourse to the use of 

reserves.  

 

4.7.5 The one-off use of reserves to cover any residual deficit forecasts will have 

an adverse impact on our financial standing going forward and our ability 

to fund service developments in future years; and is therefore an option of 

last resort. 

 

Page 45



4.7.6 The outlook for future years shows further revenue pressures undermining 

the council’s ability to deliver a balanced MTFP. Work is ongoing to produce 

a sustainable and balanced MTFP to present to Cabinet in December 

through identifying further opportunities to transform how the Council 

delivers services.  

  

5.0 Alternative Options 

 

5.1 There are no alternative options to consider. 

 

6.0 Implications for consideration – Council Plan 

 

6.1 The third of our three council priorities is to deliver value for money 

services. This report monitors progress against the General Fund Revenue 

Account budget estimates agreed by Council on 24 February 2021 for the 

current financial year 2021/22 and seeks to project forward the implications 

of known variations on the MTFP. 

 

7.0 Implications for consideration – Financial and value for money 

 

7.1 The report in its entirety deals with financial and value for money 

implications. 

 

8.0 Implications for consideration – Legal 

 

8.1 It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 for the Council to produce a balanced budget. Further 

work is required over the coming months to balance the in-year budget 

for 2021/22 and to be able to set a balanced budget for 2022/23 in 

February 2022.   

 

9.0 Implications for consideration – Human resources   

 

9.1 There are no human resource implications to consider in this report. 

 

10.0 Implications for consideration – Risk management 

 

10.1 Budget forecasting, particularly over the medium term is not an exact 

science.  Assumptions are made points in time, but the outcome could be 

very different e.g., reductions or increases in government grants, levels of 

pay awards, investment returns, impacts of further Covid-19 spikes and 

lockdowns etc. A full risks and uncertainties scenario analysis will be 

included as part of the final budget setting reports in February 2022. 

 

Page 46



10.2 There are several significant risks inherent in any budget forecasting 

exercise and these risks increase as the period covered increases.  

 

11.0   Implications for consideration – community wellbeing    

 

11.1 Although there are no direct community wellbeing implications to consider 

in this report, the ability for the Council to appropriately manage its day to 

day finances and to be able to achieve a balanced budget position is critical 

to the continued delivery of the full range of council services that are 

targeted at supporting community wellbeing across the borough. 

 

12.0     Implications for consideration – Economy and skills     

 

12.1  Although there are no direct economy and skills implications to consider in 

this report, the ability for the Council to appropriately manage its day to 

day finances and to be able to achieve a balanced budget position is critical 

to the continued delivery of the full range of council services that are 

targeted at supporting the economy and skills agenda across the borough. 

 

13.0     Implications for consideration – Climate Change 

 

13.1 Individual climate change and environmental impact assessments are not 

required for the budget process. These are included as part of the decision-

making processes for specific spending, cost saving and/or income 

generating options. 

 

14.0     Implications for consideration – Equality and diversity       

 

14.1 Individual equality and diversity impact assessments are not required for 

the budget process. These are included as part of the decision-making 

processes for specific spending, cost saving and/or income generating 

options. 

 

Decision information 

 

Key decision number 1058 

Wards affected All 

 

Document information 

 

Report author Contact number/email 

Helen Fox Helen.fox@chesterfield.gov.uk  

01246 936273 

Page 47

mailto:Helen.fox@chesterfield.gov.uk


 

Page 48


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Council Plan Delivery Plan - Half Year Performance Update
	Council Plan Performance 2021-22 Q2 - Appendix 1

	6 General Fund Budget Monitoring 2021/22

